#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

ARMANDO VASQUEZ-REYES,	)	NO.	80293	
Appellant, vs.	) ) )			Electronically Filed Aug 27 2020 11:30 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court
THE STATE OF NEVADA,	)			
Respondent.	) _)			
APPELLANT'S	S OPEN	NING I	<u>BRIEF</u>	

(Appeal from Judgment of Conviction)

DARIN F. IMLAY CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEF. 309 South Third Street, #226 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2610 (702) 455-4685

Attorney for Appellant

STEVEN B. WOLFSON CLARK COUNTY DIST. ATTY. 200 Lewis Avenue, 3<sup>rd</sup> Floor Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 (702) 671-2700

AARON D. FORD Attorney General 100 North Carson Street Carson City, Nevada 89701-4717 (775) 684-1265

## **JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

- A. Statute which grants jurisdiction to review the judgment: NRS 177.015.
- B. Judgment of Conviction filed December 17, 2019; Notice of Appeal filed December 19, 2019.
- C. This appeal is from a final judgment entered on December 17, 2019.

## **ROUTING STATEMENT**

D. This case is not presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals under NRAP 17(b)(1) because appellant was convicted of Category A felonies.

### **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

I. The Court violated the Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendments and the Nevada Constitution by rejecting defense jury instructions and by providing prejudicial jury instructions.

- II. The State committed misconduct, violating the Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendments and the Nevada Constitution.
- III. The trial court violated Armando's federal and state constitutional rights in denying suppression of all evidence related to Armando's illegal detention and subsequent statements to police.
- IV. The Court violated appellant's federal and state constitutional rights by admitting irrelevant, inflammatory and prejudicial evidence and by excluding relevant and probative evidence.
- V. The Court unreasonably restricted the defense case and limited crossexamination in violation of the Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth the Sixth Amendment.
- VI. The trial court erred in denying the defense motion to strike the testimony of an unqualified expert, violating Armando's rights under the Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendments and the Nevada Constitution.
- VII. The court erred in admitting improper rebuttal testimony.
- VIII. The State failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that appellant committed these crimes.
- IX. Cumulative error warrants reversal of these convictions.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State filed a complaint on April 19, 2016, alleging one count of Lewdness with a Child under 14, one count of Sex Assault on a Minor under 14, one count of Lewdness with a Child under 16, and one count of Sex Assault on a Minor under 16. (I 2). On May 19, 2016, the State filed an Amended Criminal Complaint alleging two counts of Lewdness with a Child under 14 and seven counts of Sex Assault on a Minor under 14. (I 3). On July 12, 2016, the defendant was bound over after the preliminary hearing. The State filed a Second Amended Criminal Complaint alleging an additional count of Sex Assault on a Minor under 14. (I 6). On July 14, 2016, the State filed an Information alleging two counts of Lewdness with a Child under 14 and eight counts of Sex Assault on a Child under 14. (I 124).

On August 2, 2016, Armando Vasquez-Reyes was arraigned and entered a plea of not guilty in District Court. (III 704). On January 8, 2018, the defense filed a motion to suppress the defendant's statements to police. (I 201). On May 9, 2018, the court denied the defense motion to suppress. (II 276). On May 11, 2018, the defense filed a second motion to suppress the defendant's statements. (II 278). After a hearing under *Jackson v. Denno* on October 7, 2019, the court denied the motion to suppress. (IV 750).

On July 17, 2018, Armando was referred for proceedings in competency court. (IV 735). On September 14, 2018, the District Court deemed Armando not competent and ordered Armando committed for mental health treatment. (II 382; IV 737). On November 16, 2018, Armando was deemed competent to proceed. (II 384).

On October 1, 2019, the State filed a motion in limine regarding Armando made on April 26, 2018. (III 569). On October 7, 2019, the State filed a motion to present propensity evidence. (III 602). The court overruled the defense objection and granted the motion after a hearing. (IV 751, 754-55).

On October 15, 2019, after a seven-day trial, jurors convicted Armando on all counts. (III 661). The State filed the Judgment of Conviction on December 17, 2019. (III 696). The court sentenced Armando to ten years to life on Count 1; ten years to life on Count 2, concurrent; 35 years to life on Count 3, consecutive to Count 2; 35 years to life on Counts 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, and 10, concurrent, for an aggregate sentence of 45 years to life in prison, in addition to lifetime supervision and registration as a sex offender. (III 697). Armando filed a timely notice of appeal on December 19, 2019. (III 699).

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In 2007, G.A and her sister S.A. lived with their mother, Rosalba Cardenas-Moreno, in Las Vegas. Rosalba moved from Mexico in 2005 and the children subsequently joined her. (VII 1605). G.A. was about five when she moved to Las Vegas; S.A. was ten; their brother Mael was thirteen. (VII 1610). Armando Vasquez-Reyes began dating Rosalba in 2006 and moved in soon after the two started dating; he was living with Rosalba when the children arrived from Mexico. (VI 1432; VII 1605). Armando worked as a welder from early morning until early afternoons. (VII 1607). Rosalba usually worked nights. (VII 1607). The family moved to several different houses over the years. Mael got married and his wife lived intermittently with the family over the years. (VI 1433-34). S.A. also got married and her husband also lived with the family for a period of time. (VI 1434).

G.A. testified that when she was five or six years old and the family lived in a Las Vegas apartment, she was sexually abused multiple times by Armando. (VI 1436). She stated that Armando invited her to join him in the bedroom he shared with Rosalba, and that he removed her clothes and touched her breasts, vagina, and buttocks. (VI 1437). She testified that the bedroom door was closed and that Armando told her not to tell anyone what had happened. (VI 1438, 1441). She testified that at other times, Armando

told her to grip his exposed penis and to move her hand up and down. She saw him ejaculate. (VI 1443-45). She testified that these events occurred in Rosalba's and Armando's bedroom with the door closed and locked. (VI 1444). She claimed that these events occurred from once a week up to three times a week, and that the acts continued after the family moved from the apartment to a house with a pool. (VI 1447-48).

At one of the residences, G.A. claimed that Armando penetrated her anus with his penis. (VI 1451). G.A. testified that she did not tell anyone because she feared that her mother would judge her and hate her. (VI 1452). She testified that anal penetration occurred several times, including one time when she was on her back on Armando's bed, and another time when she was kneeling on the floor. (VI 1453-54). G.A. testified that these acts also occurred when the family moved into a second three-bedroom house in Las Vegas, including at least twice in her mother's room. (VI 1455). She testified that one time Armando tried to penetrate her vagina in her mother's bedroom but she pushed him away because of the pain, and that another time she had fallen asleep in her mother's room while folding laundry; she testified that she woke up and Armando penetrated her anally with his penis. (VI 1457). She testified that Armando also touched her, kissed her, and

penetrated her anus with his penis on an occasion in the laundry room. (VI 1461).

The family moved into a two-story four-bedroom house when G.A. was nine or ten years old. She testified that the sexual assaults continued during this time. (VI 1461). She testified that she kept her bedroom door locked but that it could be opened from the outside, and that Armando would unlock the door and enter her room. She testified that Armando penetrated her anus in her bedroom. (VI 1463). She testified that these acts also occurred in her mother's bedroom when Armando would invite G.A. and S.A. to watch a movie. G.A. testified that S.A. left the room one night and went to sleep in her own bedroom, after which Armando touched G.A. and anally penetrated her. (VI 1465). G.A. testified that the last time Armando penetrated her was in his bedroom in a white house, and that this assault occurred before Thanksgiving of 2015. (VI 1466).

G.A. stated that by the fall of 2015, she had learned about sexual abuse from classes at school and from a friend; she realized that she was experiencing this type of abuse. (VI 1467-71). She testified that she started cutting herself and attempted suicide by taking pills she had been prescribed. (VI 1472-73). When the last event occurred in November of 2015, G.A. testified that she pushed Armando away and threatened to call the police.

(VI 1475). After this event, G.A. testified that Armando stopped touching her and stopped abusing her for several months. (VI 1476). The family then moved to a house on Bruce Street in Las Vegas. About two weeks before Armando was arrested on April 16, 2016, G.A. testified that he grabbed her butt as he passed her in the kitchen. (VII 1477-78).

On April 16, 2016, G.A. testified that a family disagreement occurred over rent money and that her mother called the police. (VII 1481-82). G.A. testified that her older sister S.A. was planning on moving out soon with her husband, and that her brother Mael was also planning on moving out soon with his wife and child. (VII 1480-81). G.A. testified that she was afraid that when her siblings moved out, she would be left alone in the house with Armando and that the abuse might begin again. (VII 1482). When police arrived, G.A. testified that she decided to tell the police about the abuse and informed a patrol officer that she was being raped. (VII 1483).

Officer Murray testified that he arrived in response to call about a family disturbance. After speaking with various family members about the dispute, he was approached by G.A. (VII 1574). She asked if she could speak to him outside the presence of the other family members. (VII 1575). Based on G.A.'s disclosures of sexual abuse, Murray called in a detective from Metro's sexual assault unit. (VII 1580).

When Detective Pretti arrived at the scene, he spoke with G.A. and Rosalba, and he decided to continue the interviews at Metro headquarters. (VIIII 1782). Pretti claimed that Armando agreed to go to headquarters and was transported while handcuffed in a patrol car. (VIII 1785). Armando ultimately gave a statement to Pretti at Metro headquarters in which he made admissions to an act of lewdness and an act of sexual assault. (II 246; 265-68).

Subsequently, at a pretrial meeting at the District Attorneys' office, Rosalba and G.A. interviewed with Ruth Leon, the D.A. investigator assigned to the case. S.A. also attended the meeting. Leon testified that as a result of disclosures made by S.A. at this meeting, additional investigation was requested from Metro. (VIII 1693). At trial, S.A. testified that when she was twelve years old, she was playing outside with her siblings and went into the house to use the bathroom. She testified that Armando called her into his and Rosalba's bedroom and that he threw her on the bed. (VIII 1712). She testified that Armando got on top of her, touched her, and removed her shorts. (VIII 1713-14). She testified that Armando put his penis in her vagina. She did not believe he ejaculated. (VIII 1715). S.A. testified that she felt pain and a burning sensation. When it was over, she went

outside and watched her siblings play; S.A. did not continue playing and did not tell anyone what had happened. (VIII 1716).

The State presented testimony from G.A., Metro Officer Murray, Rosalba, D.A. investigator Ruth Leon, S.A., interpreter Maria Corral, Metro Det. Pretti, and Dr. Sandra Cetl. The defense presented testimony from EMT James Duke and Dr. Greg Harder. The State presented rebuttal testimony from Dr. Lia Roley. After a seven-day trial, jurors convicted Armando on all counts. (III 661-664).

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

In the absence of any physical evidence, this Court should reverse these convictions based on insufficient evidence, prosecutorial misconduct, multiple erroneous rulings by the trial court, and a confession that resulted from an illegal detention and inherently coercive police tactics.

### **ARGUMENT**

I. The Court violated the Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendments and the Nevada Constitution by rejecting defense instructions and by providing prejudicial instructions.

In reviewing jury instructions, this Court grants district judges broad discretion and will affirm unless the district court abused that discretion.

Crawford v. State, 121 Nev. 744, 748, 121 P.3d 582, 585 (2005); Hoagland

v. State, 240 P.3d 1043, 1045 (Nev. 2010). In general, this Court "reviews a district court's decision settling jury instructions for an abuse of discretion or judicial error." *Berry v. State*, 212 P.3d 1085, 1091 (Nev. 2009). Whether a jury instruction accurately states applicable law is a question subject to de novo review. *Id.* at 1091.

# A. Instruction 13 is Irrelevant to these Charges and Minimizes the Burden of Proof

The defense objected to the "no corroboration" language of Instruction 13. (IX 1964; III 679). The defense offered Instruction I in response to the State's no corroboration instruction: "There is no law or requirement that you believe the testimony of an alleged victim beyond a reasonable doubt Whether you choose to do so is left to the sound discretion of you as the jurors after considering all the evidence." (III 647; IX 1976). The court rejected Instruction I. (IX 1978). As defense counsel argued, this instruction would have ameliorated the inherent prejudice of Instruction 13.

The defense objected to Instruction 13 on the grounds that it unfairly highlights the testimony of the complaining witnesses, contains confusing language, implies burden-shifting, contains the prejudicial word "victim," and contains an irrelevant reference to appellate standards of review. (IX 1964-66). The Court overruled the defense objection and provided the

instruction: "There is no requirement that the testimony of a victim of sexual assault be corroborated, and his/her testimony standing alone, if believed beyond a reasonable doubt, *is sufficient to sustain a verdict of guilty*." (III 679) (emphasis added).

"It is for the jury to determine the degree of weight, credibility and credence to give to testimony and other trial evidence . . ." Hutchins v. State, 110 Nev. 103, 109; 867 P.2d 1136, 1140 (1994) (over'd on other grounds by Mendoza v. State, 130 P.3d 176 (2006)). Two decades ago, the Nevada Supreme Court disapproved the "Lord Hale" instruction cautioning jurors about the difficulty of disproving an allegation of sexual assault. Turner v. State, 111 Nev. 403; 892 P.2d 579 (1995). This Court should similarly reject this instruction. Both instructions contain the same potential for prejudice: unwarranted assumptions regarding the veracity of the complaining witness. While the Lord Hale instruction assumes the complainant could fabricate a charge which the defendant would have difficulty disproving, the uncorroborated victim instruction implies that jurors should believe the victim, despite the lack of corroborating evidence. If one of these instructions is improper, this Court should similarly reject the other as improper.

Significantly, this instruction carried particular prejudice in the instant case, where no physical evidence existed and where many of the allegations were several years old. Other courts have rejected similar instructions. In rejecting an instruction stating "[a] conviction may be based solely on the uncorroborated testimony of the alleged victim if such testimony establishes each element of any crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt," the Supreme Court of Indiana noted that:

... [a]n instruction directed to the testimony of one witness erroneously invades the province of the jury when the instruction intimates an opinion on the credibility of a witness or the weight to be given to his testimony.

Ludy v. State, 784 N.E.2d 459, 461 (Ind. 2003). Additionally, "[b]y training the jury's attention on the complaining witness's testimony, the instruction communicates the trial judge's apparent determination of credibility." Carie v. State, 761 N.E.2d 385, 386 (Ind. 2002). For these reasons, this Court should conclude that these instructions are improper and prejudicial.

# B. The Cases Relied Upon by the Nevada Supreme Court Fail to Support this Instruction

Admittedly, the Nevada Supreme Court previously approved a similar instruction in *Gaxiola v. State*, 121 Nev. 638, 649, 119 P.3d 1225, 1233 (2005). However, in approving the instruction, this Court should note that the *Gaxiola* Court relied in part upon *People v. Gammage*, 2 Cal. 4th 693,

828 P.2d 682 (Cal. 1992), and *People v. Smith*, 385 N.W.2d 654 (Mich. Ct. App. 1986).

In *Gammage*, the trial court gave the following instruction, codified in CALJIC 10.6: "It is not essential to a finding of guilt on a charge of [rape] [unlawful sexual intercourse] [(sexual activity)] that the testimony of the witness with whom sexual relations is alleged to have been committed be corroborated by other evidence." *Gammage*, 2 Cal. 4th at 697, 828 P.2d at 684. On appeal, the California Supreme Court found it was not error to give CALJIC 10.60, *but only if the court also provides* CALJIC 2.27. *Id.* at 700, 828 P.2d at 686. CALJIC 2.27 states:

You should give the [uncorroborated] testimony of a single witness whatever weight you think it deserves. Testimony concerning any fact by one witness, which you believe, [whose testimony about that fact does not require corroboration] is sufficient for the proof of that fact. You should carefully review all the evidence upon which the proof of that fact depends.

Id. at 696, 828 P.2d at 684. Thus, the Gammage court recognized the problematic nature of no-corroboration instructions like CALJIC 10.60, and opined that CALJIC 2.27 strikes a balance "...which protects the rights of both the defendant and the complaining witness." Id. at 700, 828 P.2d at 686. Thus, Gammage only approved the "no corroboration" instruction in CALJIC 10.60 when balanced by CALJIC 2.27.

Further, just as Gaxiola failed to apprehend the entirety of the California Supreme Court's foundation for the Gammage decision, Gaxiola's reliance upon Smith is also misplaced. Smith approved a "no corroboration" instruction based on Michigan statutory authority: the Court concluded that the instruction "accurately states the law as provided in M.C.L. § 750.520h." Smith, 385 N.W. 2d at 195. While Smith did not recite the text of M.C.L.A 750.520h, the statute currently provides, "[t]he testimony of a victim need not be corroborated in prosecutions under sections 520b to 520g."<sup>3</sup> Notably, the instruction in *Smith* apparently did not contain the phrase "sufficient to sustain a verdict of guilty," unlike the instant instruction and the Gaxiola instruction. Thus, the primary cases relied upon by the Gaxiola decision do not support the language ultimately approved in the instruction, and do not support the State's contention that this instruction is proper in all cases involving allegations of sexual assault.

The instruction approved in *Gaxiola* and provided to the instant jury fails to accurately track CALJIC 10.60, and lacks the balancing instruction found in CALJIC 2.27, as required by the *Gammage* court. Both the precise wording of CALJIC 10.60, and the simultaneous provision of CALJIC 2.27, comprised the foundation of *Gammage*'s approval of the no-corroboration instruction; *Gaxiola* entirely fails to recognize and apply this reasoning,

warranting another look at the decision and a rejection of the trial court's decision that *Gaxiola* supports the provision of this instruction.

## C. The Instruction Improperly References an Appellate Standard of Review.

Significantly, CALJIC 10.60 also does not reference a post-conviction sufficiency of the evidence standard, as in the *Gaxiola* instruction. The *Gaxiola* instruction, as provided in the instant case and noted by trial counsel, specifically states that an alleged victim's testimony is sufficient to "sustain a verdict of guilty." *Gaxiola*, 121 Nev. at 648, 119 P.3d 1232. (III 679; IX 1965). Trial courts should not provide jury instructions that refer to appellate standards of review. Other courts recognize that the "no corroboration" rule is meant for appellate review, and not for jury instructions. *State v. Cao*, 788 N.W.2d 710, 717 (Minn. 2010). At minimum, *Gaxiola* should be modified to require a no-corroboration instruction mirroring CALJIC 10.60, and to require the provision of a companion instruction, identical to CALJIC 2.27.

Based upon the aforementioned authorities, this Court should revisit Gaxiola and find error in the provision of "no corroboration" instructions.

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