### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

ARMANDO VASQUEZ-REYES,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Nov 30 2020 12:16 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Case No. 80293

Respondent.

### **RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF**

### Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

AUDREY M. CONWAY Nevada Bar #005611 Chief Deputy Public Defender 309 South Third Street, #226 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 (702) 455-4685 STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

Next, a Texas Court of Appeals had previously rejected an identical argument. <u>See Joshua v. State</u>, 507 S.W.3d 861, 864 (Tex. App. 2016) ("[P]lacement of 'guilty' before 'not guilty' in an otherwise proper verdict form does not indicate a trial court is biased or influence a jury to vote a particular way"). Additionally, Appellant failed to offer any proof that the order would adversely affect the Appellant. Thus, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to provide Appellant's proposed verdict form as the one submitted to the jury was not misleading.

#### I. Harmless Error.

To the extent this Court finds that the district court committed error in giving any of these instructions, or in denying Appellant's proposed instructions, any error was harmless. The error will be harmless if the reviewing court is "convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury's verdict was not attributable to [that] error." <u>Crawford</u>, 121 Nev. at 756, 121 P.3d at 590.

Here, G.A. testified that on repeated occasions, Appellant would penetrate her anus with his penis. VI AA 1451-54, 1456-57, 1461, 1463-65. G.A. also testified about the time when Appellant penetrated her vagina with his penis. VI AA1457-58. The sexual abuse was frequent as Appellant had access to G.A. when her mother was not home. See VI AA 1447, 1452, 1465-66, 1471; VII AA 1602-03, 1606-07. The victim also testified about a time when Appellant had her masturbate his penis and when Appellant touched her breast, buttocks, and vaginal area. VI AA 1429, 1437-44. As to D.A., she testified about the time when she was twelve (12), and Appellant sexually assaulted her; Appellant climbed on top of her, removed her shorts, and penetrated her vagina with his penis. VIII AA 1709, 1711-14. Finally, there was some corroboration as Appellant admitted to sexually assaulting G.A. II AA 259-67. As the provided instructions were accurate statements of law, there can be no finding that the jury's verdict was attributable to the alleged errors.

## II. THE STATE DID NOT COMMIT PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT AND THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY DENIED APPELLANT'S REQUESTS FOR MISTRIAL

In resolving claims of prosecutorial misconduct, this Court undertakes a twostep analysis: determining whether the comments were improper; and deciding whether the comments were sufficient to deny the defendant a fair trial. <u>Valdez v.</u> <u>State</u>, 124 Nev. 1172, 1188, 196 P.3d 465, 476. The standard of review for prosecutorial misconduct rests upon a defendant showing "that the remarks made by the prosecutor were 'patently prejudicial.'" Riker v. State, 111 Nev. 1316, 1328, 905 P.2d 706, 713 (1995) (citing Libby v. State, 109 Nev. 905, 911, 859 P.2d 1050, 1054 (1993)). This is based on a defendant's right to have a fair trial, not a perfect one. Ross v. State, 106 Nev. 924, 927, 803 P.2d 1104, 1105 (1990). This Court views the statements in context and will not lightly overturn a jury's verdict based upon a prosecutor's statements. Byars v. State, 130 Nev. 848, 865, 336 P.3d 939, 950-51 (2014). Notably, "statements by a prosecutor, in argument... made as a deduction or conclusion from the evidence introduced in the trial are permissible and unobjectionable." Parker v. State, 109 Nev. 383, 392, 849 P.2d 1062, 1068 (1993) (quoting Collins v. State, 87 Nev. 436, 439, 488 P.2d 544, 545 (1971)). Further, the State may respond to defense theories and arguments. Williams v. State, 113 Nev. 1008, 1018–19, 945 P.2d 438, 444–45 (1997), receded from on other grounds, Byford v. State, 116 Nev. 215, 994 P.2d 700 (2000).

With respect to the second step, this Court will not reverse if the misconduct was harmless error. <u>Valdez</u>, 124 Nev. at 1188, 196 P.3d at 476. The proper standard of harmless-error review depends on whether the prosecutorial misconduct is of a constitutional dimension. <u>Id.</u> at 1188–89, 196 P.3d at 476. Misconduct may be constitutional if a prosecutor comments on the exercise of a constitutional right, or the misconduct "so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process." <u>Id.</u> at 1189, 196 P.3d 476–77 (quoting

<u>Wainright</u>, 477 U.S. at 181, 106 S.Ct. at 2471). When the misconduct is of constitutional dimension, this Court will reverse unless the State demonstrates that the error did not contribute to the verdict. <u>Id.</u> 124 Nev. at 1189, 196 P.3d 476–77. When the misconduct is not of constitutional dimension, this Court "will reverse only if the error substantially affects the jury's verdict." <u>Id.</u>

#### A. State's Closing Argument.

First, Appellant claims that there was improper burden-shifting when the State made arguments such as there was "no evidence" and "no testimony" on penetration a week prior. AOB 27-28. The State notes that, commenting on the lack of evidence supporting a defense theory does not amount to burden shifting. "[A]s long as a prosecutor's remarks do not call attention to a defendant's failure to testify, it is permissible to comment on the failure of the defense to counter or explain evidence presented." <u>Allred v. State</u>, 120 Nev. 410, 418, 92 P.3d 1246, 1252 (2004); <u>citing</u>, <u>Evans v. State</u>, 117 Nev. 609, 631, 28 P.3d 498, 513 (2001). Regardless, the district court advised that the State should refrain from saying the phrase "no evidence". IX AA 2103. The district court was clear that the State could say "just say the evidence". Id. Therefore, the Court sustained the objection. AOB 27.

Appellant further takes issue with the State arguing that, "[s]he never told the police that penetration occurred a week prior[,]" and that the district court overruled his objection. AOB 27. According to Appellant, this was a misstatement of the

testimony. AOB 27-28. Appellant's issue is meritless as the State properly complied with the district court's request to refrain from using the phrase "no evidence", and this was not a misstatement of the testimony. Curiously, Appellant states that the evidence on this matter was conflicting, so, logically, the State was allowed to argue the way it perceived the evidence was presented. See AOB 28. Accordingly, the State did not mischaracterize this issue as sufficient testimony was introduced to support the State's position.

Finally, Appellant complains about the State misstating Dr. Harder's testimony by arguing Appellant's IQ of 61, was "[w]ell below the 70 average." AOB 29. The State's exact statement was: "We heard Dr. Harder's exam. 61, I believe was the number. Well below the 70 average." IX AA 2108. Defense counsel objected, on the grounds that it misstated the testimony, and the district court overruled the objection. IX AA 2108. While Dr. Harder did testify that the average score on the tests, he administered was 100, there can be no finding that the comment was improper as the statement was not patently prejudicial. IX AA 1988. Moreover, the overall substance of the State's argument reflects that there was testimony that Appellant tested below average on his IQ test. Therefore, there can be no finding of prosecutorial misconduct.

To the extent that any of the State's arguments in closing were improper, any error was harmless. As to the statements of "no evidence", the district court sustained

50

the objections and instructed the State not to say that phrase. Accordingly, the State complied with this directive. As to the statement about Dr. Harder, the error in the number did not rise to a level of affecting Appellant's constitutional rights, or "infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process." <u>Valdez</u>, at 1189, 196 P.3d 476–77 (<u>quoting Darden v. Wainright</u>, 477 U.S. at 181, 106 S.Ct. 2464, 2471 (1986). Any error could not have contributed to the verdict as both victims testified about Appellant's sexual abuse, and Appellant's own expert admitted that the IQ test was incomplete. <u>See e.g.</u>, II AA 259-61, 265; VI AA 1447, 1451-54, 1456-58, 1461, 1463-661471; VII AA 1602-03, 1606-07; IX AA 1988. Finally, Appellant argued his own interpretation of the evidence regarding what G.A. told patrol officers. <u>See, e.g.</u>, IX AA 2119-20, 2128.

#### **B.** State's Rebuttal Closing Arguments.

Appellant complains that the State "implied that such evidence existed but had not been admitted into evidence" when the State made the following argument:

Now, the defendant appeared over this period of time, State would submit, that he generally got along with the family. There was no evidence of violence in the household, regular police visits, none of that is in – none of that has come into evidence.

Rosalba had been living with the defendant for about ten years at that time.

AOB 29; IX 2146. At trial, Appellant objected and moved for a mistrial. IX AA 2146. The district court overruled the objection and denied the motion for a mistrial. IX AA 2147.

Appellant's characterization of the argument was completely incorrect. What the State was actually arguing was the exact opposite of Appellant's concern. Furthermore, said comment goes to the issue that Appellant's theory was G.A. made up the accusations in order to have Appellant leave their home. IX AA 2117. The State was not implying that there was evidence out there in the world that the home was volatile. Accordingly, the argument was not improper and does not constitute prosecutorial misconduct. To the extent that Appellant is alleging the district court erred in its denial of his motion for a mistrial, any claim is meritless. A "denial of a motion for a mistrial is within the trial court's sound discretion. The court's determination will not be disturbed on appeal in the absence of a clear showing of abuse." Parker v. State, 109 Nev. 383, 388-89, 849 P.2d 1062, 1066 (1993). The Court agreed that the purpose of the State's argument was the exact opposite of Appellant's concern, and properly exercised its discretion in not granting the Motion for a Mistrial. IIX AA 2146-47.

Appellant further claims that the State committed prosecutorial misconduct when the State allegedly "introduced personal opinion during rebuttal argument[.]" AOB 29. Appellant references the following portion of the record: Now, if [G.A.] was making this up, the State submits that this 14-yearold [G.A.] has just described a lot of conduct that she didn't have to, and in so doing, she's pretty well described a course of grooming conduct that might make -- not make a lot of sense to a 14-year-old. But when you look at it in the totality, as we are, it makes a heck of a lot of sense, the State would submit.

IX AA 2159. Appellant objected, on the grounds that no witness testified as to "grooming conduct" and that the State was "inappropriately referring to facts not in evidence and offering personal testimony and opinion." AOB 29-30. While the district court sustained the objection, the court also denied Appellant's Motion for a Mistrial. AOB 30. Appellant adds that the State engaged in "implicit vouching" for the credibility of the G.A., and cites to Lisle v. State, 113 Nev. 540, 553, 937 P.2d 473 (1997). AOB 30.

The State argued at trial that the term "grooming" was a common term, which is why the State used that term in its argument. IX AA 2159-60. The State used the term to describe G.A.'s testimony regarding Appellant's course of conduct where he would have G.A. in a bedroom, alone, with the door closed and locked. VI AA 1442-44, 1449, 1451-52, 63-64. Appellant would then remove her clothing, touch her body, and penetrate her anus. VI AA 1450-54, 1456-58, 1461, 1463-65.

Moreover, the State was not engaging in implicit vouching. "Vouching may occur in two ways: the prosecution may place the prestige of the government behind the witness or may indicate that information not presented to the jury supports the witness's testimony." Lisle, 113 Nev. 540, 553, 937 P.2d 473, 481; <u>quoting United</u>

States v. Roberts, 618 F.2d 530, 533 (1980)). "Analysis of the harm caused by vouching depends in part on the closeness of the case." Id.; quoting United States v. Frederick, 78 F.3d 1370, 1378 (9th Cir.1996). However, when the outcome of a case "depends on which witnesses are telling the truth, reasonable latitude should be given to the prosecutor to argue the credibility of the witness." Rowland v. State, 118 Nev. 31, 39, 39 P.3d 114, 119 (2002). The State can comment on witness testimony during closing arguments and ask the jury to make reasonable inferences from the evidence. Bridges v. State, 116 Nev. 752, 762, 6 P.3d 1000, 1008 (2000); State v. Green, 81 Nev. 173, 176, 400 P.2d 766, 767 (1965) (The State "has the right to state fully [its] views as to what the evidence shows."). "[T]he prosecutor may argue inferences from the evidence and offer conclusions on contested issues." Miller v. State, 121 Nev. 92, 100, 110 P.3d 53, 59 (2005) (quotations omitted).

The State neither placed the prestige of the government behind the witness nor referenced facts not in evidence. Instead, he State made a reasonable inference regarding Appellant's course of conduct before he would sexually assault G.A. Even assuming *arguendo* that these statements did constitute impermissible vouching, Appellant cannot demonstrate that he was prejudiced by them. First, the district court sustained the objection. Next, there was testimony introduced at trial that Appellant would remove G.A's clothing, touch her body, and penetrate her anus inside a bedroom with the door closed and locked. VI AA 1442-44, 1449-54, 1456-58, 1461, 1463-65. For these reasons, if this Court were to find that the comment was improper, there was no error.

### C. Testimony of Officer Murray.

Appellant raises additional complaints of prosecutorial misconduct regarding the testimony of Officer Murray. Appellant claims that the State elicited improper

vouching testimony.

During the testimony of Officer Murray, the following questions occurred:

Q Do you know how many people that you've interacted with during the course of your training -- not your training -- during the course of your employment with the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department?

A Do I know how many people I've interacted with?

Q Yes.

A Thousands.

Q Have you seen people sad?

A Yeah.

Q Have you seen people upset?

A Yes.

Q Have you seen people happy?

A Yes.

Q Based on your training and your experience, when you made contact with [G.A.], what was her demeanor like to you?

VIII AA 1576. Appellant objected on the grounds that the witness was speculating, but the district court correctly noted that the officer could describe a person based on their own perspective of another's demeanor. <u>Id.</u> The district court overruled the objection, and the Officer answered with: "She -- like I said, she -- she seemed nervous. She wasn't hysterical, and she was direct. She seemed very genuine with what she told me." VIII AA 1577. Appellant again objected on the grounds of speculation, and the court overruled the objection.

Officer Murray again stated that, "like I said, she seemed nervous, not hysterical. She was able to talk to me clearly, and she seemed genuine in what she told me." VIII AA 1577. Appellant then objected on the grounds of vouching, which the court sustained and struck the last observation from the record. VIII AA 1577-78.

As Appellant admits, the district court both sustained the objection and struck it from the record. On this ground, alone, there can be no finding that the testimony was patently prejudicial. As noted *supra*, "[v]ouching may occur in two ways: the prosecution may place the prestige of the government behind the witness or may indicate that information not presented to the jury supports the witness's testimony." <u>Lisle</u>, 113 Nev. 540, 553, 937 P.2d 473, 481; <u>quoting United States v. Roberts</u>, 618 F.2d 530, 533 (1980)). Unlike the trial court in <u>DeChant</u>, the district court here did not allow this testimony to proceed, and struck any comment from the record. <u>DeChant v. State</u>, 116 Nev. 918, 926, 10 P.3d 108, 113 (2000). Furthermore, this Court should disregard Appellant's citation to <u>Lobato v. State</u>, as nowhere in that opinion is the quoted language. <u>See</u> AOB 31. In fact, Appellant citation leads to the section on impeachment and extrinsic evidence. <u>See Lobato v. State</u>, 120 Nev. 512, 518-19, 96 P.3d 765, 770 (2004). Regardless, Officer Murray did not testify that G.A. was a credible witness, and any error was harmless as the district court sustained the objection and struck the comment from the record.

#### **D.** The State Did Not Redefine its Burden of Proof.

Appellant further claims that the State, improperly belittled its standard of proof, and points to this section of the rebuttal closing argument:

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